DA 10-295

FILEI SID J. WHITE JUL 10 1995

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO.: 85-271

ST. PAUL FIRE AND MARINE
INSURANCE COMPANY, as subrogee
of MICHAEL B. SCHOENWALD, M.D.;
UROLOGY ASSOCIATES; DRS. MEYERS,
STRAUCH & SCHOENWALD, P.A.;
MICHAEL B. SCHOENWALD, M.D.;
UROLOGY ASSOCIATES and DRS.
MEYERS, STRAUCH & SCHOENWALD,
P.A., individually,

Appellants/Petitioners,

vs.

WILLIAM J. SHURE, M.D. and SOUTH BROWARD HOSPITAL DISTRICT PHYSICIANS PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY INSURANCE TRUST,

Appellees/Respondents.

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND OF THE CASE

### I. THE ORIGINAL MALPRACTICE CASE

CHELSEA BINGER, a minor, brought a malpractice action against WILLIAM J. SHURE, M.D., MICHAEL SCHOENWALD, M.D., UROLOGY ASSOCIATES, DRS. MEYERS, STRAUCH & SCHOENWALD, P.A. and THE FLORIDA PATIENT'S COMPENSATION FUND alleging injuries as a result of the negligence of these Defendants.

DR. SHURE, an Obstetrician/Gynecologist, was alleged to have been negligent in the prenatal care and delivery, and post-delivery care of CHELSEA BINGER and her mother, LINDA BINGER, resulting in CHELSEA BINGER contracting herpes from her mother at the time of her vaginal birth on October 9, 1984.

DR. SCHOENWALD, a urologist, was alleged to have failed to diagnose genital herpes on MICHAEL BINGER, his patient, during LINDA BINGER's pregnancy, and for failing to contact DR. SHURE, who was caring for LINDA BINGER during her pregnancy.

DR. SHURE was also alleged to have been negligent in failing to confer with DR. SCHOENWALD regarding the condition of MICHAEL BINGER, after being told of MICHAEL BINGER'S symptoms, in order to protect LINDA BINGER and CHELSEA BINGER by prenatal testing of LINDA BINGER for herpes, and for failing to deliver CHELSEA BINGER by caesarean section.

DR. SHURE settled with the Plaintiffs for the sum of \$250,000.00 on the morning of the first day of trial. DR. SHURE also gave a sworn statement to the Plaintiffs on the settlement date without notice to or the attendance of counsel for Co-

defendant, DR. SCHOENWALD.

The trial went forward with DR. SCHOENWALD and his professional association as the sole Defendants, and resulted in the jury finding DR. SCHOENWALD negligent and assessing damages in the amount of \$2,900,356.89. A Final Judgment for damages, attorney's fees and costs was entered, and a settlement was agreed upon between the BINGERS and DR. SCHOENWALD in an amount of \$3,000,000.00. A Satisfaction of Judgment for that amount was filed with the Court.

# II. THE CONTRIBUTION CASE

A contribution action was filed by ST. PAUL FIRE AND MARINE INSURANCE COMPANY on behalf of DR. SCHOENWALD and his professional association (R.1537-1578) against WILLIAM SHURE, M.D. and his insurance carrier, THE SOUTH BROWARD HOSPITAL DISTRICT PHYSICIANS PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY INSURANCE TRUST, pursuant to the Florida Uniform Contribution Among Tortfeasors Act, Fla.Stat. §768.31 (1976).

The action was bifurcated by the Court (R.3021), and a two week jury trial was in May of 1992 on the sole issue of whether the \$250,000.00 settlement between DR. SHURE and the BINGERS, the Plaintiffs in the underlying malpractice action, was a good faith settlement within the meaning of Fla. Stat. §768.31 (1976). A verdict for the Plaintiffs, ST. PAUL, was reached by the jury on May 28, 1992 wherein the jury specifically found that the settlement reached between the BINGERS and DR. SHURE was not a good faith settlement.

The trial court subsequently granted Defendant's Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict (R.3644-3645), and a Final Judgment Notwithstanding the Jury Verdict was entered by the trial court. (R.3660-3661). A Notice of Appeal was filed by the Plaintiff, ST. PAUL, on August 13, 1992. (R.3662-3663) The Fourth District Court of Appeals upheld the decision of the trial court, and ST. PAUL's Motion for Rehearing, Rehearing en Banc, and Alternative Request for Certification were denied. St Paul's Petition for Review was granted by this Court.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The parties to this appeal agree upon very little. The evidence presented to the jury during the two weeks of trial in this contribution case has been described by the parties as direct evidence, as circumstantial evidence, as reasonable, as unreasonable, as inferential, as inferences upon inferences, as opinion, as fact, as disputed fact, as undisputed fact, as smoke and mirrors, as the truth, etc., etc.

The fact that the parties herein don't agree is not an unusual or novel situation that requires this Court's review.

This Court's review is necessary to right an injustice to the Plaintiff, ST. PAUL, created by the order entered post-trial by the trial court and the opinion of the appellate court affirming the trial court's ruling. The trial court erroneously granted a Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict for the Defendant, SHURE, after a jury had found in favor of the

Plaintiff, ST. PAUL. The Fourth District Court of Appeals further compounded the trial court's error by misapprehending the narrow issue on appeal and by failing to resolve that issue. Furthermore, the Fourth District erroneously interjected its incorrect view that a jury trial is not a right afforded to a party to a contribution case, and improperly substituted its opinion for that of the jury as to whether or not the settlement between DR. SHURE and the BINGERS in the underlying malpractice case was a good faith settlement.

In order to prevail in the contribution action that was tried in May of 1992, ST. PAUL was obliged to prove that the settlement entered into by DR. SHURE and his insurer with the BINGERS was not a good faith settlement. ST. PAUL put before the jury by way of direct evidence the very same information which was available to the parties and their counsel in the malpractice case at the time of the settlement. In addition, ST. PAUL put into evidence trial testimony from the underlying malpractice case, transcripts of hearings with the court, correspondence between the parties and their attorneys, and other relevant evidence, all of which enabled the jury to draw its own conclusion regarding DR. SHURE'S settlement.

Moreover, ST. PAUL presented extensive expert testimony at trial regarding the fact that DR. SHURE'S settlement did not represent his proportional share of the liability to the BINGERS, and further that the settlement was made for tactical reasons, as the BINGERS needed DR. SHURE's testimony to withstand DR.

SCHOENWALD's Motion for Directed Verdict in the underlying malpractice case to get to the jury. Such evidence and testimony is direct evidence of the material issue that was decided by the jury (i.e. was the settlement a good faith settlement), and was neither circumstantial nor speculative. The jury verdict was proper and correct, and the trial court erred in granting DR. SHURE'S motion for J.N.O.V.

The District Court's opinions that ST. PAUL did not present evidence sufficient to support the verdict of the jury is in direct conflict with and contradicts prior decisions of this Court and other appellate courts. See generally, Cromarty v. Ford Motor Company, 341 So.2d 507 (Fla. 1976), Wale v. Barnes, 278 So.2d 601 (Fla. 1973), LaBarbera v. Millan Builders, Inc., 191 So.2d 619 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966) and Zack v. Centro Espanol Hospital, 319 So.2d 34 (Fla. 2d DCA 1975), all of which hold that expert testimony is direct evidence, not circumstantial, and that such expert testimony will support a jury verdict.

Further, the Fourth District Court of Appeal's opinion in this contribution action prohibits a contribution plaintiff from a jury trial for contribution issues brought pursuant to the Uniform Contribution Among Tortfeasor Act, §768.31, Florida Statutes (1987). The basis opined by the fourth district for this prohibition and limitation is that contribution is an equitable remedy, and the right to a jury trial extends to actions at law only. The fourth district's opinion in this case is in direct conflict with the opinion of other Florida appellate

courts that have held that an action for contribution, even those equitable in nature, are in fact actions at law. See, Fletcher v. Anderson, 616 So.2d 1201 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993). The opinion also conflicts with other prior opinions by the Fourth District Court of Appeals as to the issue of whether a jury or judge is the appropriate trier of fact in contribution claims brought pursuant to the contribution act. Contribution actions should be decided by a jury and not a judge, as the right to contribution among joint tortfeasors is a creature of statute. The law of Florida is clear that contribution issues should be determined by a jury, not by a court. The decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeals should be reversed, and the case remanded to the trial court with instructions to reinstate the lawful verdict of the jury.

## POINTS ON APPEAL

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING DEFENDANTS MOTION FOR JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT.

While this case may appear to be complex at first blush, it is really rather straight forward. DR. SCHOENWALD and DR. SHURE were both sued for malpractice in a "herpes baby" case. DR. SHURE and his insurer settled with the plaintiffs for \$250,000 on the morning of the first day of trial. The trial continued against DR. SCHOENWALD, who ultimately paid \$3,000,000 to settle the judgement entered against him. DR. SCHOENWALD and his insurer, ST. PAUL, felt that they had paid a disproportionate share of the BINGER's damages, and commenced a contribution action against DR. SHURE, as a joint tortfeasor, pursuant to

\$768.31, Florida Statutes (1987). As this Court is aware, \$768.31 shields a settling joint torfeasor from contribution claims, if their settlement was made in good faith. Thus, in order to prevail on their statutory cause of action, DR.

SCHOENWALD and ST. PAUL had to prove; 1) that the DR. SHURE settlement was not made in good faith; 2) that DR. SHURE was negligent in his care and treatment of MRS. BINGER and CHELSEA BINGER; and 3) his proportionate share of fault. As previously noted, the trial court bifurcated the issues to be tried, and this case went to the jury on the sole issue of whether the DR. SHURE settlement was made in good faith.

As a review of the charge conference demonstrates (T.1317-1416), the parties sharply disagreed concerning the law to be applied to the "good faith" question. The defendants below received virtually every instruction they requested, resulting in a jury charge which was extremely favorable to the defendants. We discuss this issue now, because before discussing the error of the trial court's J.N.O.V. ruling, it is important to understand the context in which that ruling was made. The law regarding the issue of whether the settlement in question was a good faith settlement was given to the jury by the court as follows:

The issue for your determination on the Plaintiffs' claim against the Defendants is whether DR. SHURE and his insurance company acted in good faith in making the settlement with the BINGERS.

You are instructed that a settlement is in good faith if there is a reasonable basis for the settlement.

An appropriate definition of good faith involves a

determination of whether the amount of the settlement is within the reasonable range of the settling party's proportional share of liability for the underlying injuries.

However, bad faith is not established by a showing that a settling defendant paid less than his theoretical proportionate or fair share because such a rule would unduly discourage settlement.

A settlement is reasonable if it is in the ball park.

When considering whether or not DR. SHURE's settlement was reasonable, you must look to what a reasonable and prudent person in DR. SHURE's position would have settled the BINGER case for.

Furthermore, you're required to make that evaluation on the basis of the information that was available at the time of the settlement.

Reasonableness and good faith are determined on a case by case basis.

For guidance a number of factors should be taken into account.

These factors include the degree of certainty of a settling party's liability, the risks of going to trial, the chances that a jury verdict may exceed the settlement offer, the unknown strengths and weaknesses of defenses, and the inexact appraisal of damage elements.

Additionally, you should consider the following factors:

A rough approximation of the injured party's total recovery and the settler's proportionate liability, the amount paid in settlement, and a recognition that a settling individual should pay less in settlement than he would if be were found liable after a trial.

Other relevant considerations include, but are not limited to, the financial conditions and the insurance policy limits of the settling defendants, as well as the existence of collusion, fraud or other wrongful conduct aimed to injure the interest of the non-settling defendants.

Collusion implies something more than confederacy.

Any negotiated settlement involves cooperation, but not necessarily collusion.

A settlement becomes collusive when it is aimed to injure the interests of the absent defendant.

Collusion is an agreement to defraud a person of his rights.

It implies the existence of fraud of some kind, the employment of fraudulent means or of lawful means for the accomplishment of an unlawful purpose.

If after considering these factors you find it was reasonable for DR. SHURE to settle and that DR. SHURE did settle in Good faith with the BINGERS, then you must find in favor of DR. SHURE and deny DR. SCHOENWALD's claim.

You must also consider that settlements are highly favored in the law and should be upheld whenever possible because they are a means of amicably resolving doubts and preventing lawsuits among themselves.

The parties are responsible for damages in direct proportion to the percentage of fault in causing the injuries.

Notwithstanding this underlying principle, settlements are also encouraged that might ultimately result in one defendant paying less than his share if the settlement is made in good faith.

You are instructed, counsel are free to speak to and record the statements of any witness who is willing to make them.

Circumstantial evidence is relied on in civil cases as a method of proof.

Any reasonable inference deducible therefrom which would authorize recovery must outweigh each and every contrary reasonable inference.

If that is to prevail, stacking one inference upon another as a method of establishing an ultimate fact is not permitted unless the first inference is established to the exclusion of any other reasonable theory.

(T.1523-1527)

With all of the above as a backdrop, the question then

becomes, how is any contribution plaintiff supposed to prove it's case. What kind of evidence could be presented in order to satisfy the burden established by the above instructions. The answer is that the contribution jury needs to be placed in essentially the same position as the jury in the underlying case. That is, the contribution jury needs to be able to evaluate the liability and damage issues which existed in the underlying case as to both defendants such that they can independently determine the respective degree of fault between the defendants; and they need to be able to evaluate the factors influencing the settlement in question and the conduct of the parties in bringing about the settlement.

In the instant case, of course, ST. PAUL successfully demonstrated to the jury that the settlement by DR. SHURE was not a good faith settlement, pursuant to the above-referenced jury instructions. ST. PAUL submitted a great deal of direct evidence to the jury. Depositions of all the parties to the underlying medical malpractice case, which included the depositions of LINDA BINGER, MICHAEL BINGER, DR. SHURE and DR. SCHOENWALD were introduced into evidence. Robert Spector, Esq. (counsel for the BINGERS), Norman Klein, Esq. (counsel for DR. SHURE in the underlying malpractice case), and Victor Womack, Esq. (counsel for DR. SCHOENWALD in the underlying malpractice case) were presented as witnesses by the Plaintiff, ST. PAUL.

ST. PAUL further read portions of the depositions of Hunter Handsfield, M.D., Alfred Kalodner, M.D., Sidney Siegel, M.D., Dr.

Freed, Jerome Klein, M.D., Neil Crane, M.D., William Sweeney, M.D., all of whom were experts in the underlying malpractice case, and all of whom testified that DR. SHURE fell below the standard of care in his care and treatment of LINDA BINGER. ST. PAUL also put into evidence portions of the depositions of Dr. Hendrix, Dr. Shatz, Dr. Shulman, Dr. Bercuson, Dr. Sloan, Dr. Schoeck, Dr. Arvin and Dr. Kalstone, all of whom were also expert witnesses in the underlying malpractice case. The medical records of DR. SHURE and DR. SCHOENWALD were also placed into evidence.

ST. PAUL additionally read portions of the trial transcript from the underlying medical malpractice case, along with hearing transcripts. Correspondence between the attorneys and parties, along with various pleadings and other court documents, including answers to interrogatories and requests for admissions were all placed into evidence during ST. PAUL's case in chief. ST. PAUL also called in their case in chief Harold Shapiro, the administrator of the South Broward Hospital District Physicians Professional Liability Insurance Trust, which insured DR. SHURE at the time of the BINGER claim, concerning the reasons for the settlement.

The jury was provided with an opportunity to independently evaluate the same factual data available to the parties and their attorneys during the underlying malpractice case. They were given an opportunity to review all of the factors which led to the settlement in question, including the conduct and events that

occurred subsequent to the settlement. Accordingly, the jury was provided with more than enough evidence to arrive at their own independent conclusion concerning whether the settlement between DR. SHURE and the BINGERS was a good faith settlement, as defined by the Court.

To be on the safe side, however, ST. PAUL also called Howard Barwick, Esq. as an expert witness. Mr. Barwick reviewed approximately twenty-eight depositions of the experts, parties, and other witnesses in the underlying malpractice case, the trial transcript, various pleadings, correspondence, and the medical records of DR. SHURE and DR. SCHOENWALD prior to his trial testimony. Mr. Barwick also reviewed various hearing transcripts, releases, and the sworn statement given by DR. SHURE to the attorney for the BINGERS on the first day of trial in the contribution action. (T.730-734)

Mr. Barwick testified that the settlement between the BINGERS and DR. SHURE was not made in good faith, was made for tactical reasons, and that the settlement did not fairly represent the true percentage of fault of DR. SHURE as it related to the facts of the underlying malpractice case. (T.774). Mr. Barwick also testified that the BINGERS settled for a smaller (lesser sum) amount of money than what the true percentage of exposure amounted to with respect to DR. SHURE in order to obtain certain testimony from DR. SHURE that would otherwise not be available to them, in an attempt to guarantee their chances of getting a large jury verdict against DR. SCHOENWALD. (T.776)

Mr. Barwick further testified without objection that the \$250,000.00 settlement amount offered by DR. SHURE and accepted by the BINGERS was not reasonably related in any manner to a fair and reasonable apportionment of fault between DR. SHURE and DR. SCHOENWALD based on the facts of the case as they existed prior to the underlying medical malpractice trial at the time of the settlement. (T.814)

# Defendant's Motion for J.N.O.V.

In moving for Judgment Notwithstanding The Verdict subsequent to the adverse jury verdict, DR. SHURE's argument, simply put, was that; 1) ST. PAUL's entire case was based solely on circumstantial evidence; 2) the "direct" evidence as to the reasonable basis of the settlement testified to by Attorney Robert Spector and Attorney Norman Klein was uncontradicted by other direct evidence; and 3) ST. PAUL's case amounted to an impermissible stacking of inferences upon inferences.

In its order granting DR. SHURE'S motion for J.N.O.V., the trial court cited as authority <u>Voelker v. Combined Insurance</u>

<u>Company of America</u>, 73 So.2d 403 (Fla. 1955); <u>Reaves v. Armstrong</u>

<u>World Industries</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 569 So.2d 1307 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990); and <u>Vecta Contract</u>, <u>Inc. v. Lynch</u>, 444 So.2d 1093 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984).

While these cases and their inapplicability will be

¹Not surprisingly, both Mr. Spector, who represented the BINGERS, and Mr Klein, who represented DR. SHURE, testified that they felt their settlement was in good faith. DR. SHURE has incorrectly characterized this opinion testimony as direct evidence.

discussed in detail below, it should first be noted that DR. SHURE relies upon these cases for the following basic proposition:

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