OA 10-2-95

AUG 25 1995

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By \_\_\_\_\_ Cintef Deputy Clerk 85-271

ST. PAUL FIRE AND MARINE INSURANCE COMPANY, as subrogee of MICHAEL B. SCHOENWALD, M.D.; UROLOGY ASSOCIATES; DRS. MEYERS, STRAUCH & SCHOENWALD, P.A.; MICHAEL B. SCHOENWALD, M.D.; UROLOGY ASSOCIATES and DRS. MEYERS, STRAUCH & SCHOENWALD, P.A., individually,

Appellants/Petitioners,

4TH DCA CASE NO.: 92-2446

CASE NO.:

vs.

WILLIAM J. SHURE, M.D. and SOUTH BROWARD HOSPITAL DISTRICT PHYSICIANS PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY INSURANCE TRUST,

Appellees/Respondents.

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA

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

<sup>9</sup> Mr. Spector testified that, "we took the chart and had it made into overheads and I went over it word by word with Doctor Schoenwald during his direct examination." [Tr. 653, Appendix III]

<sup>10</sup> George Bunnell, an expert for Dr. Shure, testified about the way Dr. Schoenwald handled the second call about the lesions on Mr. Binger's penis:

I think the concern that I would have in representing this doctor is that, is this an appropriate way of dealing with the information that's been imparted to him over the telephone. Because the way he reacted to this, according to his own note, was that he gave-he did not see the patient and simply told the patient to use some ointment and come back. I would be worried about that. That would cause me considerable concern if I were defending him in the context of this case...where this wife is pregnant, this is the second time that something has developed on her husband's penis, where he simply says, without even seeing because he can't-without seeing it he can't evaluate whether it's the same thing that he saw before or something different than he saw before.

[Tr. 1123, Appendix III]

<sup>11</sup> Mr. Spector repeatedly testified that "Dr. Schoenwald hung himself with his own records" [Tr. 654, Appendix III], meaning that the words "lesion and "blister" were there in his records while there no indication of anything of this nature in Dr. Shure's Ray Ferrero, testifying on behalf of Dr. Shure, stated that he also found that the Bingers "had a difficult case against Dr. Shure" and he explained that Dr. Schoenwald "was providing an almost insurmountable defense for Dr. Shure..[he] was saying that the Plaintiff's husband did not have herpes and had Dr. Shure contacted him that's what he would have told him":

And had I been handling the case, I would have been very interested in removing that potential Defendant from the case, attempting to settle it on a reasonable basis, taking in all the considerations, but one of the considerations would have been that I felt that I would probably not have prevailed against Doctor Shure, whereas I felt from review of the depositions that I would have prevailed against Doctor Schoenwald.

[Tr. 1004, Appendix III]

George Bunnell also testified on behalf of Dr. Shure and summarized why the settlement was made in good faith based upon the evidence which Mr. Spector, on behalf of the Bingers, was required to consider in arriving at what was a fair settlement for his clients:

So, the evidence, even the Bingers confirm that he did a number of things that are consistent with a doctor who if told something is going to act on it. And it is difficult for Mr. Spector. I can see Mr. Spector having a problem believing that he was going to be able to convince a jury that Doctor Shure was that conscientious about the gonorrhea and about sending to the urologist and all the rest of it and then he ignores the fact that she's told him the thing that would be the biggest red flag and that is that the husband had something on his penis.

That is, what I would call, a hard sell. And I think Mr. Spector must have thought it was a pretty hard sell. In addition to that, I think Mr. Spector, and I just take

records.

his word for this, had the impression that Doctor Shure made a good appearance...

In addition to that, he now, if he settles the case for this amount of money, he also assured himself that if his clients should lose the case completely, which he did not expect them to do, obviously, they at least will have all of their costs covered, the expenses they incurred in the case, and would not walk away with an empty pocket and owing money.

So, those are all considerations that plaintiff's lawyers make. And I see that in my view that was a reasonable thing for him to do.

[Tr. 1111-1113, Appendix III]

Mr. Bunnell made this evaluation based upon his judgment that there was a significant difference in the liability against Dr. Shure as compared to Dr. Schoenwald:

Insofar as Doctor Schoenwald was concerned, he had testimony that they had actually gone to this doctor and shown him what was on Mr. Binger's penis. That didn't happen with Doctor Shure. Doctor Shure never saw that. And he wouldn't be expected to understand as I understand the evidence because he's an obstetrician. He's a lady's doctor and not a doctor for the husband. <u>Doctor</u> <u>Schoenwald</u>, on the other hand, does see this. There's a dispute as to what he saw, but there's not dispute about the fact that they went to Doctor Schoenwald.

The doctor knew she was pregnant. The doctor saw something. You can debate over exactly what it was that he saw. That he was given the history from the husband about what had transpired with the husband in California and everything that he gave. <u>It occurred to him that it</u> <u>could be herpes</u>. And he sat down, I think, with the Bingers and showed them some pictures and things. Mrs. Binger made a big point of that. So did Mr. Binger.

And that he actually considered that as at least a differential diagnosis and <u>ruled it out and told him that</u> he did not think that they had anything to worry about. Now, it may be that was a reasonable thing for him to do, but there was plenty of testimony from the Plaintiffs' side that it was an unreasonable thing to do under the circumstances.

In addition to that, as in comparing Doctor Shure and Doctor Schoenwald, Doctor Shure did have some further information about what transpired after Mr. Binger went to Doctor Schoenwald. And he was told in a telephone conversation with Mr. Binger that it was - he was told it was okay, he was fine, nothing to worry about.

If that was a mistake, if he shouldn't have been told that, it's not Doctor Shure's mistake, it's Doctor Schoenwald's mistake. In addition to that, Mrs. Binger and Doctor Shure testified that later on when she next saw him, she reconfirmed that they had been told it was okay and nothing to worry about.

Again, if that was bad information, that's Doctor Schoenwald's problem, not Doctor Shure's problems. And then finally in June, I think it was, there was a recurrence, according to the Bingers, of this problem. And Mr. Binger -- and they called Doctor Schoenwald about it and Doctor Schoenwald didn't even have him come in at that point. According to that now, there's an issue, I think, about that. And then it occurred again later on, even just before the birth, where there was some - there was a second time that - a third actually, this would be now the third time that Mr. Shure - that Mr. Binger apparently had some visible problem on his penis or said he did.

And there was a later call to the doctor about that and nothing, so. <u>And according to the testimony of the</u> <u>Bingers, they never told Doctor Shure about any of these</u> <u>later subsequent problems.</u> They didn't tell him about the problem in June and October. <u>They only told Doctor</u> <u>Schoenwald that.</u>

So, all of that, when you look at it, there's a totally difference case insofar as it deals with Doctor Schoenwald as compared to Doctor Shure because Doctor Schoenwald is the one that sees the husband, is there to evaluate the husband's problem, and received the later phone calls from the husband.

[Tr. 1117-1120, Appendix III] [emphasis supplied]

### St. Paul's Expert Testimony

The single expert called by St. Paul was Mr. Barwick. Mr. Barwick's testimony went to supporting St. Paul's theory of the case, i.e., that because Dr. Shure did not pay his theoretical proportional share, the settlement was not entered into in good faith. Other than conclusionary sentences in the brief, St. Paul has not provided record citation to any of Mr. Barwick's testimony having to do with the other factors that could support a finding that the settlement was not entered into in good faith. The Fourth District commented on this omission in St. Paul's brief stating that, "[i]n its 30 page brief, St. Paul devotes only two paragraphs to Barwick, its only expert..."<sup>12</sup> On the issue of good faith the Fourth District then found that "counsel for St. Paul acknowledged that there was no evidence of collusion or that Dr. Shure testified improperly". [Op., p.3, Appendix I]

St. Paul also argues that Mr. Barwick's testimony was based upon the same information available to the settling parties. However, there is a critical distinction between the information which Mr. Barwick had available to him, or rather what he did in fact review, and what was available to the settling parties. Mr. Barwick testified that he reviewed some of the records, some of the depositions and the trial testimony, i.e., what was given to him by Mr. Womack, Dr. Schoenwald's attorney. [Tr. 730, Appendix III]

First and foremost, the trial testimony which Mr. Barwick reviewed occurred after the settlement, and thus was not available to the settling parties. Mr. Barwick himself acknowledged that he did not read the depositions which were the most critical of Dr. Schoenwald's care of Mr. Binger. [Tr. 837 (Dr. Crane), Tr. 839

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The Fourth District finishes the quote with "...and characterizes it as follows...:" and then sets out the two paragraphs in full. See Op., p.3, Appendix I.

(Dr. Shullman), Tr. 840 (Drs. Freed and Klein), Tr. 841 (Drs. Shatz and Sloan), Appendix III]. However, this information certainly was available to the settling attorneys and influenced their determination as to what was Dr. Shure's exposure. Thus Mr. Barwick's testimony as to this settlement not being in good faith was based upon a restrictive review of the record and contained matters clearly outside of what the settling parties used in their evaluations of the case.

A good deal of Mr. Barwick's testimony went to explaining to the jury that the case was settled because "there was information that the Plaintiff needed in his case to prove to get to the jury to begin with that he can get from no other person in the world left except Dr. Shure." [Tr. 776, Appendix III] This was the "tactical reasons" for settlement, to get the information contained in the sworn statement having to do with Mrs. Binger's symptomatology of the herpes virus to the jury in the medical malpractice action.

Mr. Barwick was permitted to tell the jury that it was the Binger's attorney, Mr. Spector who brought this information to the jury during redirect examination. [Tr. 803, Appendix III] However, the transcript of the trial reveals clearly that the questions regarding the symptomatology of Mrs. Binger's herpes were made initially by Mr. Womack during his cross examination.<sup>13</sup> [See

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Further, Mr. Barwick acknowledged that Dr. Shure was not the only one who commented at trial about the distinction between primary and recurrent herpes, that Dr. Klein had done so. [Tr. 863, Appendix III]

Dr. Shure's Trial Testimony in Tr. Med. Mal. case, Appendix II, pp.479-483 Cross by Defense counsel Womack and p.506 Re-direct by Plaintiffs counsel Spector]:

Mr. Womack: Doctor, under the protocol which you would have started, you say at about 32 weeks, knowing that Linda Binger is what we call an asymptomatic shedder, correct, sir? She was an asymptomatic shedder?

Dr. Shure: Based on the case as I know it now, looking back upon it, the case is consistent with her being an asymptomatic shedder.

\* \* \* \* \* \*

Mr. Womack: So now suppose, Doctor, that there was something that got you started that caused you to suspect Herpes and you started the cultures on this lady who was an asymptomatic shedder, and in doing your weekly cultures, what do you think the odds were back then of you getting a positive culture from her vaginal canal?

Dr. Shure: Less than one percent.

\* :

Mr. Womack: Okay, now assume, however, that you go ahead with the vaginal delivery, and assume that one out of a hundred chance that the mother has the virus shedding occurs, one out of a hundred, do you know what the odds are for the baby contracting the disease as it travels through the vaginal canal?

Dr. Shure: Yes.

Mr. Womack: What?

Dr. Shure: If it is a first case of herpes, the baby has a 50 percent chance of getting this infection from the mother. If it is recurrent herpetic problem, the baby has a four percent risk of coming down with herpes assuming the shedding is going on. There is no shedding, the whole thing is academic, so we are talking 50 percent of one percent or four percent of one percent which goes into quite a few decimals.

[Tr. Med. Mal., pp. 479-483 Excerpted Testimony of Dr. Shure during Cross Exam by Womack, Defense Counsel found in Appendix II, pp.479-483] [all emphasis supplied]

As is plain from the transcript excerpt above, Mr. Womack,

St. Paul opened the door wide open on the issue of asymptomatic herpes and first occurrence versus a recurrent herpetic symptomology. Mr. Spector then asked a clarifying question regarding mortality rates concerning the asymptomatic shedder which focused on information already elicited during Mr. Womack's crossexamination:

Mr. Spector: Doctor, according to your statistics, sir, the chances of having problems with the cesarean section are lower than the chances of an asymptomatic shedder's baby having symptoms, isn't that correct, sir? You said it is approximately three out of 100,000 that have problems of mortality or morbidity in a cesarean section?

Mr. Womack: He said death, not problems, and I object to it.

Mr. Spector: Excuse me, death.

Dr. Shure: Well, the chances of death are three in 100,000, and I am doing that to the best of my recollection because I think the total mortality in this country for pregnant women is seven or eight per 100,000, and that involves ectopic pregnancy, that involves infection and that involves hemorrhaging.

That has nothing to do with cesarean section-maybe it did have, I would presume three out of those seven or right were cesarean section. Now the likelihood of an asymptomatic shedder--Again if this was a recurrent infection giving her baby a disease, it's not my statistics, it is from the American College of Obstetrics and Gynecology that recommends the protocol. They would just say do cesarean section if herpes were suspect, and I am assuming the risk benefit ratio when favorable to the protocol if no vaginal infection were there.

Mr. Spector: Doctor, do you have an opinion as to what kind of infection Linda Binger had, whether it was primary or recurrent herpes?

Dr. Shure: My opinion, I will emphasize, is that this was a first infection.

Mr. Spector: And that would have substantially increased the chances of the baby getting the virus if she was an **asymptomatic** shedder?

Dr. Shure: I am going backwards and using the arithmetic, in my opinion, the likelihood is greater for knowing that result.

[Excerpt of Dr. Shure's trial testimony in Tr. Med. Mal. case, Tr. pp.505-506, See Appendix II] [emphasis supplied]

Despite the fact that Mr. Womack was the counsel who elicited the information from Dr. Shure on symptomology and first or primary herpes versus recurrent herpes, Mr. Barwick told the jury that Mr. Womack did not ask these questions regarding symptomology and first versus recurrent herpes:

Mr. Bushman (co-counsel for St. Paul): Let's go back. How was the testimony from Dr. Shure elicited, what parts of the trial, who was asking the questions?

Mr. Barwick: Dr. Shure was called in the Plaintiff's case by Mr. Spector and was put on and asked a number of questions.

And then he was cross-examined by Mr. Womack.

And on redirect, the question was specifically asked as to whether or not he had an opinion as to whether the herpes that Mrs. Binger had was primary or recurrent. He said, yes, I do. What is your opinion? The answer was, it was primary.

Mr. Bushman: Did Mr. Womack with respect to his cross-examination before that point open the door or in any way ask him or elicit a response of that nature?

Mr. Barwick: Not in my opinion.

[Tr. of Contribution Action, p.803, Excerpt of Howard Barwick Testimony, Appendix III]

And further, the trial testimony reveals that the herpes virus symptomatology was not even at issue in the trial, <u>but was brought</u> <u>out only in the contribution action in order to support the</u> <u>inference that Dr. Shure gave a sworn statement in exchange for</u> <u>settling the case</u>.

### **ARGUMENT:**

# THE FOURTH DISTRICT'S OPINION WAS CORRECT

The Fourth District's affirmance was based on sound reasoning and is not in conflict with any other cases of this court or any of the other District's, including the Fourth. It is interesting that of the twelve cases cited in support of the Fourth District's opinion that St. Paul has chosen to discuss only one and that case appears at the end of their brief in a few scant paragraphs. [Petitioner's Br., p.37]

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